Byzantine Oxylithos

The large village of Oxylithos lays on the slopes of the predominant mountainous
verdant massif to the south of Kymi. Oxylithos (“Oxys + lithos™ = “pointed
rock™) owes its name to the distinctive pointed hill to the north of the settlement.
The area was constantly populated since the prehistoric period, as attested by the
archaeological remains. However, the earliest written reference of the village is found
in two ottoman taxation cadastres, from 1474 and 1521.

Until today the village is formed by 21 quarters, a settlement layout with
roots that reach back in the byzantine period. The place names of the quarters are
probably connected with the wealthy families by which they were formerly inhabited.
At least three of these quarters evidently preserve family names of those large estate
owners. The piety of the latter probably gave the incentive to build an equal number
of churches at Oxylithos, preserved until today: Panaghia of the Chatirianoi, St.
Nikolaos of Ritzanoi and St. Anna of Psithianoi. The earliest of the three is Panaghia
of Chatirianoi, dedicated to the Dormition of the Virgin, (ca. 1300) located to the
west of the settlement. It belongs to the cross-vaulted architectural type, which is
locally common in Euboea during this period. Same as St. Demetrios at Avlonari,
St. Thekla at Orologhio and Panaghia at Spilies, the church of Panaghia preserves
important mural paintings, representative of the Latin Era artistic production.

The church of St. Nikolaos represents the same architectural type as Panaghia,
in a simpler form.

St. Anna at Psithianoi, a single-aisled, vaulted church, is of a more humble
style. In its interior it preserves two layers of wall paintings. The first, earlier
one, at the eastern part of the church, is dated between 1304 and 1311, and it is
connected to workshops of painters who were active in the broader area. The second
layer of mural decoration, at the western part, is dated in 1370, according to the
dedicatory inscription, and it expresses a local, more primitive artistic trend.
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St. Nikolaos of Ritzanoi

at Oxylithos, Euboea

O Bulovtivog OEVALOOC

To ooyt Tov OELABOL aTAGVETOL GTNY TTAG L TOL OPELVOD
XoTéipLTOL GYXOL TTOL deoTtdleL Vot TG Koung. To dvoud tov opeiiet
GTOV YOPOXTNPELOTLIXO 0ELXOPLPO AdPO atar Bépeta Tov owxtopod. H Te-
OLOYM EXEL YVWELOEL GLVEYH XOTOXNOY OLTTO TOLG TEPOLGTOPLXOVG XPAOVOUG,
OTWG LOETLPOVY ToL EYOLONOYIXEL XOrTdAOLTIO. Ot TToAoLdTEPESG WGTOGO
QVAPOPES TOL YWPELOD evToTti{ovtan o SVO 00WUOVIXA POPOAOYLXA XOt-
TaoTLYe ToL 1474 xou Tov 1521.

Méypt Tig pépeg pag To YwELd amoteAeitor omtd 21 cvvolxies, ouxt-
OTLXY] 0PYEVWOoN oL EXEL TLG PLleg TNg aToug Bulavtivods ypdvous. Ou
ovvouxieg Tov OELALBoL cuvdéovtar TLhavoy Ue TG EVTTOPESG OLKOYEVEL-
€C TIOL GANOTE TLG XOrTOLXOVOOW, X0MG TPELG TOLAGKLOTOV OTth OWTES
QPULVETOL VO SLOTNPOVY TOL OVOULOLTO TWY TIOACLWDY PEYOAOYOLOXTNLOVLY,
oY eVGERELR TwWY OTOlWY OPEiAETAL N OVEYEPDT TwV LodELbuwy Bulo-
VTLVGY EXXANCLHDY TOV OLXLOP.0V, TIoL awlovton Pyl onuepa. Tlpdxerton
Yo to vod g Havoyiog twy  Xotmplavwy, tov Ayto NixoAoo Ttwy
Purtlavwy xow v Ayto Avvor tov Wibibvwy.

MoAowdtepn 6Awy 1 Kolpmon g Movoryiog tov Xometdvwy (Yopw
ot 1300) oTor VOTOALXE TOL OLXLOLOD. BTOV OEYLTEXTOVLXO TUTO TOL
OTOVPETLOTEYOD, TTOL ETUYWELALEL oty EbBotor v emoyn awt, émwg
atov Ayto AnuiteLo ato AvAwvdpt, oty Ayt Oéxia ato QPoAdYLo %ot
oty Iavayio otig ZnnAée, o vadg g Koiunong dtotnpel  onuovtixd
TOLXOYQOPLXS SLEAKOOULO, OLVTLTIPOCWTIEVTLXO TNG XOAMTEYVLXNG TTOOOLY W=
7S TNG AXLTLYOXQOUTLOG,

Tov (310 apyLteEXTOVLXS TOTO, AAAGL GE TILO OLTTAY] [LOPPY), TLOLPOXOAOL-
el %o 0 vaég Tov Ayiov NixoAdoo.

Ilto tamewn o popen N exxinoio olepwpévn oty Heomtatdplooo
Avvor atoug Wihiévoug. O pxpwy SLooTdoewy LOVOYWEOG, XOULOPOTKE-
TG vaidg dLartnpel 3vo Lwypoixd otpwuota. To ToAodtepo, 6T0 avo-
TOAXO TUALO TOL VOOV, YPOVOAOYELTOL LETOED Twv eTtdy 1304 xou 1311,
X0 CUVSEETOL (UE TOL EQYOOTHPLOL {WYPAPWY TTOL EGPOCAY GTNY EVPVTE-
on meptoy). To vewtepo, 6to SuTnd TUNUOL, XPOVOAOYELTOL GOUPWYOL UE
™V xTropLxy entypoupn otor 1370 xow ex@pdlet piow AaixGtepy, ToTLXY
XOANTEYYLXY TAON.
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N aEYLTEXTOVLXY] ToL AYylov NixoAdov

the architecture of St. Nikolaos

O vadg Tov Ayiov NixoAdov, petéyt dahote g Movig Mavtlopn oty Koun, Boloxeton
OTLG YOTLOSUTIXEG TIOWPLQES TOL Oxtopod Touv OEvALbov. Tlpdxetton Yo atowpeTioTeyo vad,
INhad1 HoAooXETES, POVOXALTO XTIPLO, TOL OTIOLOL N XOITG UNXOG XOUGEO DLOXOTTETOL Ot
ulo eyxdpoto e LYNAGTEPO eTtiTTEdO.

Ayvwoto THTe TN SVTXY TTASLEE TOL VaoD TTPOOTEDNKE VPO, %At TTOL ToPOTNEEL-
TOL X0 08 GAAOVG OTOVPETIGTEYOVG TNG TTEPLOXNG, EVK 0T Sexaetion Tov 1960 dvo xToTég
ovTELdEg EVIoYLOOY TO VOTLO TOLYO TOL. LTO €0WTEPXY, Xaw Gyl TOAD apYdTepa omd THy
Py GaN TOL VoD, TPOaTEDNKE TO YTLoTd TEUTAO pe dVO ELGOSOVG TTPOG TO LEPO.

H towyomotiot Tov vaob eivon oed oAy opyoABodoun pe xepouind Bpodoparto xow aofe-
oToxoviopo kg LYOETIXG LAXS. O apyttextovindg SLéxoo.0g TePLOPIlETOL 0TO TTHELVO YOO
UwT6 TAXLGLO TOL  0ELXOPLPOL TLEPAHDPOL TIOL COLYETAL BTN VOTLOL TTASVPAL TNG EYXAPOLOG
xopapog, xowg xow 6to Babutdwté oY TVPAY X6y oL BEloxETOL APLETEPG TNG ELTOSOL
TPOG TOV xVELWG Vob. EvStopépov, TEA0G, TOPOVGLALEL O EVTOLYLOUEVOG UIXEOG, UETEAALYOG
OTOWPGG GTO TTHPELYO TOED TNG XGYYNG TOL LEEOD.

The church of St. Nikolaos, formerly a glebe of Mantzari monastery at Kyme, located at the southwestern
edge of the village, is cross-vaulted in plan, namely a vaulted, single-aisled building, whose long barrel vault
is interrupted by a second transverse and highly placed barrel vault. At some uncertain date, a narthex was
built to the west part of the church, as commonly seen in cross-vaulted churches in the area, and in the
1960s two buttresses were built to reinforce the south wall. In the interior, not later than the initial building
phase, the stone-built iconostasis was added. with two entrances to the altar.

The masonry of the church consists of plain rubble masonry with pottery sherds and lime mortar as binder.
The architectural decoration is restricted to the porous lineate pointed frame of the window on the south side
of the cross-vault, as well as to the stepped frame of the blind niche left of the entrance to the main church.
Finally another interesting feature is the small metal cross embedded in the porous stone arc of the altar niche.
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OL TOLYOYQOUPLES TOL VOOV
the wall paintings of the church

Eowtepixd 0 apyindsg vodg Aoy xortéypopog, 6Tmg opTupoly Ly TOLX0YEoPLEY aYeSOY
o€ OAEG TLG ETULPAVELEG. AVGTUYWDG CNUEPO ALYOTTA TUAUOTO GLLOVTOL KO EAGYLOTOL OUTTO OUTE
oxgparo. Qot600 0T0 Popeto Toixo TG TEGHEaNG TOL LEPOL SLaTNPELTOL OE XOAY] XATAGTOOY
N XTNTOPLXY] ETULYPOPY OTTO TNV OTTOLOL TTANPOPOPOVUATTE TNV OXPLBY XPOVOAOYIOL OVEYEQDYG
Tov ot 1304 ad Ty ouxoyévelor ABSeAd. AlmAa %o Tave amd TETPRYWYN XGY YN EtxovileTor
oSLEYVWOTOG NUITKPOG LEEBEYNG oL 1 OAGCWUY Lop@1 Tov Ayiov Iwdvyn [Ipodpduov pe ™
YOQOXTNELOTLXY PNAWTY VoL XPOTEL atvoLxTd eLATipLo.

ATV XOPAEOL X0t TOLG TCAGYLOUG TOLXOLG TOL LEPOV SeaTdleL M AvdAndn tov Xptotod 7
omoio dtatnpeiton amooroopatixd. Koaabtepa awletor o Xptotog o eMeupoeldn 36Ea ato
%EVTPO TNG XUUAPOG, EVE) GTO VOTLO TUAUO TNG StaxpiveTot Tuxvdg GULhog EEL amoaTOAWY TToL
TOAOULOLOVOLY 0XGYYEAO XaiL Ttopoxohovbody pe tepd 3éog To BawpaoTté yeyovds.

Xounhdtepo owleTon €wg T HEGN LOPEY LOUOTIXOD arYiov, TTOL UTTOPEL VO TOVTLOTEL OTtd
TOL TTPOGWTTOYPOUPLXE. TOV YOPOXTNELOTLXE e Tov Depdmovta dyto TlavteAenuove, eved dimho
SLoxpiveTol Yovouxeior Lop@Y Ue xoxxtywd popdpto, (owg 1 oryior Mapiva.

The church was originally completely covered with wall-paintings, as painting traces on almost all
surfaces indicate. Unfortunately today only a small part is preserved and few frescoes are intact. Nevertheless
the dedicatory inscription on the north wall of the prothesis is well preserved. citing the exact chronology
of the church erection, in 1304, by the family of Avdelas. On the side and over the square niche, an
unidentified hierarch in half-length portrait and St. John Baptist wearing the sheepskin tunic and holding a
rolled scroll are depicted.

On the apse and on the side walls of the altar the partly preserved Ascension of Christ is dominant.
Christ, preserved in relatively good condition, is depicted in the middle of the apse in an oval mandorla, while
on the south part of the apse a dense crowd of six Apostles flanking an Archangel attend the miraculous event
in religious awe.

On the lower part of the apse a healer saint is depicted in half- length, identified with saint Panteleimon
by his face features, and on the side a female figure wearing a reddish maphorion, probably St. Marina, is
discerned.

OL EQYOOLEC OLTTOXATALO TGS
the restoration works

O vadg Tov Ayiov NixOAGOL TELY TG EQYNOLEG ATIOXOTAGTOONG OVTLUETWTILLE ONUOVTLXE
oTaTXG o 0wxodopLxd TpoBMuota. H amdxhon tov vétiou Toiyou Tov xvping vaod amd ty
XOTUOPLEO ElYE SNULOLEYNOEL EXTEVELS PWYPES GTOVG HOAOUG O TNV TOLXOTIOLDL, EVE 1) OPEATS
CLYTNEYNOM oL OL KGTOYEES TOL TOPEADOVTOG Elyaoy oLVTEAETEL BTN PHOPE TOL doutxol LAXOD XOL
TOL TOLYOYPAPLXOD LOUXOOUOV, UE OTOTEASGUOL 1) GUVOALXY] ELXGYOL TOV UYNUELOL YOL 1Y OVTOTTO-
%PIVETOL TNV CLPYLXN TOL LOPEY.

O epYaioieg AmOXUTAGTAGNG, TTOL ELYOY GTOYO OUPEVAG TN GTEPEWDT KO EVIOYVGY] XOL CUPETE-
00V TN LOPPONOYLXT] ATOXATAGTOGY] TOL VoD, Eexivnoay to Lemtéufpto tov 2010 xow oAoxin-
pwOnxay o AexépfBpro tov 2013.

Kotd ) Sudipxeto Tov €pyov xabonpébnuay ol vedtepeg euteheic kot aodpfortes emepBdoets,
OTIG TO OTEYOGTPO GTNY VOTLOUTLXY TAEVPG TOL XTLELOL, TaL ETLYPLOUOTO OTLG GYELG KoL Tt
EVLOYLTLXE TOEX 0Tth OTTALGUEVO GXVPOSEUD GTOV XVPLWG Vb, Emloxevdotinay oL pwyués oty
Towomolior xo Toug H6Aovg %o evioyvbnxe N Abodoun Y TNV EQPOEUOYN EVEUATOV XOL VEWY
apporoynudtwy. Téooeplg eAxvotipeg Tomobetinxay otig Yevéoelg Twv BOAWY YLor Yo ovTLue-
TwTioovy T whnoelg aToug xaTaxdpLPoLE Tolyovg. Me T evioyvomn Tov xTLPloL, XOTEGTY
Suvorth 1 xadodpeon g vedTtepns, MOOKTLOTNG GLUTANPWGYG TOL TEUTAOL, ETELPooN N oTtolaL, OE
GLVSVOGUG UE TN GTEPEWOY, TY CLYTAENON XOL TOV XOHOELOUG TWY TOLXOYPOPLLY, OVESELEXY TOV
0ELOAOYO LwypopLxd BLAXOGUO TOL YOoL. 2TV eYXGpato B6Ao avtixataatabnxay ot eopuévol
YwvtoAhoL xot cuUTANEWONXE TO TTHPELVO TEPLBVPW TOL VITLOL TTorPEBDPOL.

H otéyn avoxatooxevdotre ue xoTAnAY oteydvwon xon xepoiSiar fulavtivod thmov,
EVE) TEEPLUETOLXG TOL YOOU SLoop@winxe LTTOYELX, OTOGTEOYYLOTIXY TAPEOG YLOL TNV OTTOUG-
%xpLYoN TwY ouPpiwy L3&TWY. OL TPELg TAEVPEES TOL VEEDNXO ETLXPITTNXAY ECWTEQLXE, WOTE VoL
INAWOEL OTL TPOXELTOL YLOL UETOLYEVEGTEQPT XOTOOXEVOOTLXY, PAOY, TO dGTEdO GTO GOVOAD TOL
VTIXOTOOTAONXE PE VEO OO OYLOTOTTAOKES, EXCUYYQOVIGTNXE 1 NAEXTPOAOYIXY EYXATAGTOON
xoi TortobeTiinxoy véo, EOAVO xouQhpoToL.

TéNog, évar ToLyio ad omALoUEVO GXVPABEUNL YLOL TNV OVTLGTHPLEN TOL TIPOVOUG oL Evar EOALVO
OTEYOOTPO UE XEPOWOOKETTY] XAUTOOKEVBGTAXAY OTN VOTLOL X0l SUTLXN TTASVPE TOL TEPLBAANOVTOL
XHPOL, avTioTOLKCL.

ASNE

Before the restoration, St Nikolaos church suffered from severe structural problems and construction damages.
The deviation from the vertical of the nave south wall had caused extensive cracks on the vaults and in the
masonry, while hasty conservation and past deficiencies contributed to the decay of both structural materials and
wall paintings, and, in result, the general view of the monument did not correspond to its original form.

The restoration aimed both at the repair and conservation of the building and also to the restoration of its
original architectural features. During the works, from September 2010 until December 2013, recent, unsuitable
and poor quality additions were removed, such as the roof shelter at the southwest side of the building. the
plastering on the facades and the supporting arcs by reinforced concrete in the nave. The cracks on walls and
vaults were repaired and the masonry was reinforced by implementation of injection grouts and pointing of new
mortar. Four metal rods were placed on the springing of the vaults to deal with the tensions to the vertical walls.
The reinforcement of the building enabled the removal of recent built additions on the iconostasis, and, along
with the conservation and cleaning of the wall paintings. consequently supported the enhancement of the painted
decoration.. On the transverse vault the worn cornerstones were replaced and the porous stone frame of the south
window was restored.

After the roof was rebuilt, it was laid with suitable waterproofing and covered by byzantine type roof tiles,
while a perimeter drainage channel below ground level and around the church was created, to let the rain water
flow away from the building. The three walls of the narthex were internally plastered, to indicate clearly that
the narthex represents a posterior building phase. The floor paving was replaced with slates, the electrical wiring
was updated and new timber frames were installed.

Finally, a reinforced concrete soil retaining wall and a wooden tiled roof shelter were built on the southern
and western part of the surroundings accordingly.




